SENATE FI NANCE COWM TTEE
FI RST SPECI AL SESSI ON
May 23, 2017
1:32 p.m

1: 32: 41 PM

CALL TO ORDER

Co-Chair MacKinnon called the Senate Finance Committee
nmeeting to order at 1:32 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Lyman Hof f man, Co- Chair

Senat or Anna MacKi nnon, Co-Chair

Senator Cick Bishop, Vice-Chair (via tel econference)
Senat or Shel | ey Hughes

Senator Peter M cciche

Senat or Donny O son

VEMBERS ABSENT

Senat or Nat asha von | nmhof

ALSO PRESENT

Doctor Jay Butler, Chief Medical Oficer, Departnent of
Heal th and Social Services; Sara Chanbers, Deputy Director,
Di vision of Business and Professional Licensing, Departnent
of Conmer ce, Communi ty and Econom ¢ Devel opnent ;
Representative Tamm e WIson; Representative Cathy Tilton;
Representative Lora Reinbold; Representative Justin Parish;
Representative Dan Otiz.

PRESENT VI A TELECONFERENCE

Jenni fer Stukey, Representative, Board of Nursing; Doctor
Thomas Wells, President, Board of Dental Exam ners; Doctor
Paul Barney, Chair, Board of Optonetry; Doctor James Hagee,
Chai rman, Board of Veterinary; Leif Holm Chairman, Board
of Pharmacy.

SUMVARY

SB 79 OPI O DS; PRESCRI PTI ONS; DATABASE; LI CENSES



SB 79 was HEARD and HELD in commttee for further
consi derati on.

#sb79
SENATE BILL NO. 79

"An Act relating to the prescription of opioids;
establishing the Voluntary Nonopioid Directive Act;
relating to the controlled substance prescription
dat abase; relating to the practice of dentistry;
relating to the practice of nedicine; relating to the
practice of podiatry; relating to the practice of
osteopathy; relating to the practice of nursing;
relating to the practice of optonetry; relating to the
practice of veterinary nmedicine; related to the duties
of the Board of Pharmacy; and providing for an
effective date."

1: 34: 46 PM

JENNI FER STUKEY, REPRESENTATIVE, BOARD OF NURSING (via
tel econference), stated that she had worked with opioid
abuse and addressed the issue of possible overprescribing
of opioids. She believed that the bill would be hel pful to
conbat the opioid addiction epidemc.

Senator M cciche wondered if there was an "opioi d awar eness
class.” Ms. Stukey replied that she would like to have an
opioid awareness class. She stressed that Al aska was
different than the Jlower 48, so there should be a
conti nui ng educati on course.

Senator M cciche assuned that creation of the class would
not be easy, but noted that there did not seem to be that
shared concern. Ms. Stukey replied that the creation of the
course woul d not be a difficult process.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered where the education should cone
from at the state level. She noted that there would be a
variety of professions that would be affected by the
| egislation. M. Stukey replied that the state should
provi de that education to ensure that all professions were
in line. She stated that there was an opioid summit that
may be a good place to start the education.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 2 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered who should influence the state.
Ms. Stukey responded that the Board of Medicine could
i nfl uence the state.

1:40: 14 PM

Co- Chai r Hof f man gueri ed t he seven- day [imt for
prescription opioid. Ms. Stukey replied that it was a very
good idea. She felt that there were exceptions for chronic
pain and end of |ife services.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered who would be the appropriate
party to set the standard for maxi num doses. M. Stukey
replied t hat medi cal doctors had gui del i nes for
prescribing, so that decision should be Ileft to the
physi ci an.

Senator Mcciche remarked that there were sone physicians
who may be too focused on the confort of the client, that
they may be ignoring the adverse effects of the overuse of
opi oids. He noted that the Board of Medicine had expressed
concern over what the seven-day supply would provide. M.
Stukey replied that the education was inportant, and
stressed that the addition of addiction understandi ng woul d
hel p physicians to prescribe opioids in a better manner.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered whether M. Stukey had worked
in a hospital environment. M. Stukey replied in the
negati ve.

Co- Chair MacKinnon recalled that there was an assessnent in
the hospital for a level of pain. She wondered who woul d
provide information about that assessnent. M. Stukey
replied that the Board of Medicine would be the best
cont act .

1:45: 22 PM

DOCTOR THOVAS WELLS, PRESIDENT, BOARD OF DENTAL EXAM NERS
(via teleconference), stated that the bill was a good
start. He shared that the board had no comment on the bill.
He stated that he | ooked forward to regulations that would
enforce the issue.

Co- Chair MacKinnon noted the anbiguity in the bill about
education and a seven-day supply limt. She remarked that

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 3 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



only a doctor would have influence on a seven-day supply.
Dr. Wells replied that there were guidelines for dosages.

Co-Chair MacKinnon queried the guidelines to limt the
opioid prescriptions. Dr. Wlls replied that the drug
conpani es provi ded dosage qui del i nes.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered whether the pharma // Dr. Wells
replied in the negative.

Senator A son queried the frequency of prescribing the
anount that would cause addiction. Dr. Wlls replied that
it depended on the practitioner. He asserted that there was
a population who may receive dental work in order to
recei ve narcotics.

1: 50: 28 PM

Senator O son wondered whether there was ever a conplaint
of an overprescribing licensee. Dr. Wlls replied in the
negati ve.

Senator O son queried the lack of requirenent in the |aw
for the dental community. Dr. Wells replied that it was not
a burden. He stressed that many addicts used dentists to
get drugs.

Senator Oson surmsed that Dr. Wlls agreed with the
course. Dr. Wells agreed.

Senat or Hughes wondered whether there were sone dentists
who would see a benefit to the education, and curb
overprescribing. Dr. Wells replied that many dentists were
over prescri bi ng.

Senator Hughes surmised that a dentist would typically
prescri be nore than seven days' worth of opioids. Dr. Wlls
replied t hat t he i ssue was nor e about r epeat ed
prescriptions.

Senator Mcciche felt that the value of the class was
whet her or not there needed to be an opioid prescription.

Co-Chair Hoffman stressed that there were sonme people that
have chronic pain, so they need the opioids to treat that
pain. He wondered whether a person in a rural village would
be required to travel to receive a prescription.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 4 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



1:56: 52 PM

DOCTOR PAUL BARNEY, CHAIR BOARD OF OPTOVETRY (via
tel econference), stated that optonetrists already had a
four-day Ilimtation on prescription opioids. He also
supported the education elenment. He was in support of the
| egi sl ati on.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered how the board established the
f our - day [imtation. Dr . Bar ney replied t hat t he
| egislative process resulted in the decision to limt to
four days.

Senator M cciche wondered whether the recent bill renoved
the four-day limt. Dr. Barney replied that the bill did
remove the four-day limt. He stated that the board would
put a four-day limt in regulation.

Senator O son remarked that bill referenced the seven-day
suppl y.
2:01: 13 PM

DOCTOR JAMES HAGEE, CHAIRVAN, BOARD OF VETERI NARY (via
tel econference), stated that the veterinary profession was
trained to deal with animals. He stated that the issue in
the veterinary profession was that drugs were prescribed
for the pets could get diverted for human use. He stressed
that nost opioid use in veterinary nedicine was dispensed
in house as injectables. He wunderstood that the people
could consune the drugs that were prescribed to the
animals. He felt that the education would be very inportant
for veterinarians.

Senator O son wondered queried the nunber of veterinarians
who had a Drug Enforcenent Agency (DEA) nunber, and how
many prescriptions they could wite. Dr. Hagee replied that
the person who held the license was responsible for the
prescription.

Senat or A son wonder ed whet her veterinarians coul d
prescribe Schedule 1 or 2 drugs. Dr. Hagee replied that
veterinarians could not prescribe Schedule 1 drugs. He
stated that they could prescribe Schedule 2, 3, 4 and 5
could be prescribed. He stated that nobst Schedule 2 drugs
were injectables. The Schedule 3 and 4 could be dispensed.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 5 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



He hoped that the veterinary comunity would stop
prescri bi ng opioids.

2:07:49 PM
LEIF HOLM CHAI RVAN, BOARD OF PHARMACY (via
t el econference), replied that the pharnacy had been

i nvol ved of the prescription drug managenent program ( PDVP)
and its use in curbing abuse in the state. He stated that
he agreed with nost of the changes in PDW

Vi ce-Chair Bishop queried the difference between a generic
and brand name drug. M. Holm replied that there was no
clinical difference between the drugs.

Vi ce-Chair Bishop queried the anount of continuing opioid
education was required by pharmacists. M. Holm replied
that there was no requirenent.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon queried the challenges that pharnmacists
face noving from a nonthly to daily reporting. M. Holm
replied that there would not be a heavy burden, except that
one nust renmenber to do it every day.

2:14: 40 PM

Senat or Hughes surm sed that changing from nonthly to daily
reporting would not address the state opioid problem M.
Holm replied that he wanted to see the effect before he
could respond to that question.

Senat or Hughes wondered whether an addiction could occur in
| ess than seven days. M. Holmreplied that addiction could
occur with the first dose.

Co-Chair MacKinnon remarked that there was an issue of
"doctor shopping" to receive the drug. She renmarked that a
daily report would prove that an individual who was "doctor
shopping." M. Holm felt that the daily reporting would
only report those who were newy addicted. He felt that
month long or week-long patterns would show a seasoned
addi ct .

Co- Chair MacKi nnon queried the practice as a busi ness owner

for pharmacists who mght identify an addict. M. Holm
replied that the pharmacy woul d contact the physician.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 6 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



Co-Chair MacKi nnon wondered whether the PDMP could be
accessed in the pharnmacy. \V/ g Holm replied in the
affirmati ve.

2:20: 21 PM

Senat or Hughes wondered whether a patient nust return to a
physician for a physical prescription. She stated that
there may be an electronic prescription required. M. Holm
replied that all prescriptions could be electronic, but
nmust be approved through the DEA. He guessed that a village
may not have the electronic prescriptions, so there may be
need to provide nore than the imt.

Senat or Hughes wondered how many pharnmacies would require
the patient to return to the physician. M. Holm did not
know.

Senat or Hughes remarked that there may be sonme with chronic
pain that required opioids. She remarked that there was a
concern about those people being under scrutiny. M. Holm
replied that there may be a concern. He stated that he
W tnessed patients with high quantities of opioid use, so
there could be a stigma with the seven-day nandate. He
remarked that there would be no use for the seven-day
mandate, if a physician was allowed to go beyond that limt
based on their professional judgnent. He stressed that the
reporting in the PDMP would be nore beneficial, and nmake
maj or headway in reducing the opioid epidenc.

2:27:37 PM

Senat or Hughes remarked that there was a letter from the
Medi cal Board about whether the Pharmacy Board could limt
the prescribing of opioids. M. Holm replied that he was
not aware of that qguideline.

Senat or Hughes replied that it would be hel pful to have the
State Medical Board clarify their position on the bill.

2:31: 07 PM

DOCTOR JAY BUTLER, CH EF MEDI CAL OFFI CER, DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND SOCI AL SERVI CES, i ntroduced hinsel f.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 7 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



Vi ce-Chair Bishop remarked that wondered whether there was
curriculum already available, or would the education
requi renents be "site specific to Alaska." Dr. Butler
replied that there were many naterials that were avail abl e
for education.

Senat or Hughes wondered whether Dr. Butler could speak to
the letter fromthe State Medical Board. Dr. Butler replied
in the affirmative. The question of the role of the
Pharmacy and Medical Boards should be deferred to the
chairs of those two boards.

Senat or Hughes felt that the boards should work together.
Co-Chair MacKinnon replied that the State Medical Board
chose not to participate in the day's neeting, and
submtted a letter instead.

Dr. Butler felt that interdepartnmental collaboration would
i nprove governnent efficiency.

2:35: 31 PM

Senator Mcciche wondered whether the state was in
"extraordinary times" as it related to drug and opioid use.
Dr. Butler replied in the affirmative.

Senator M cciche surm sed that nost street users began with
prescription drugs. Dr. Butler agreed.

Senator M cciche wondered whether prescription opioids
killed twice as nany Al askans as street opioids. Dr. Butler
replied that it was often use of nore than one drug.

Senator Mcciche stressed that there were several people
who felt the bill was inconvenient. Dr. Butler replied that
the day's neeting reflected the conversations he had wth
mul ti pl e col | eagues.

Senator Mcciche felt that there mght be a generational
difference in prescribing for pain managenent. The
requirenents of the bill were a remnder that the
prescription could encourage addicti on.

2:42: 48 PM

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 8 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



SARA CHAMBERS, DEPUTY DI RECTOR, DIVISION OF BUSINESS AND
PROFESSI ONAL LI CENSI NG DEPARTMENT OF COWERCE, COVWMUNITY
AND ECONOM C DEVELOPMENT, reinforced the inportance of
i nterdepartnental collaboration in solving the problem

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered whether there was nerit in
state standardized curriculum and whether there was a
fiscal note that would reflect that devel opnent. M.
Chanbers replied that she did not anticipate developing a
curriculum but understood the benefit of an Al aska-focused
educat i on.

Co-Chair MacKi nnon wanted to know the recomendati on about
how t he curricul um woul d be deli vered.

2:47: 46 PM

Senat or Hughes remarked that she knew of people who had
problems wth opioids. She also noted that physicians were
concerns about whether the Ilegislature would "hit the
target."” She remarked that there was not current data about
overprescribing problens. She felt that the problem should
be targeting the over prescribers. She wondered whether
there was a way to stop the addicts who were "shopping."
She wondered whether the boards currently could regul ate on
their own, or were in need of the statutory |anguage. Dr.
Butl er agreed that there needed to be guidelines for opioid
use.

2:53:49 PM

Ms. Chanbers continued that the boards worked together to
conme together on common gui del i nes.

Senator Hughes wondered whether the boards were already
wor ki ng towards regul ation, before the bill's introduction.
Ms. Chanbers replied that the Medical and Nursing Boards
had overarching regul ati ons.

Senat or Hughes queried the expectation of reduction in
opioid related deaths and the opioid problem Dr. Butler
replied that there was a hope that the bill would be a
major step in the right direction to address sone of the
roots of the problem including the volume of opioids in
the community and pai n managenent.

3:00:12 PM

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 9 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



Senator Hughes stressed that she was concerned with the
i ssue.

Co- Chair Hof fman wondered whether the |anguage related to
allowng a patient in a rural area to receive nore than a
seven-day dose. He would consult the tribal entities to be
sure that the | anguage was adequat e.

Senator M cciche remarked that the boards would deternm ne a
seven-day dose. He stressed the necessity of the bill.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered whet her Anerica had the highest
opioid wusage in the world. Dr. Butler replied in the
affirmative.

3: 05: 30 PM

Co-Chair MacKinnon surmsed that health care costs were
driven by four factors: providers, hospitals, prescription
drugs, and insurance providers. Dr. Butler felt that it was
a broad, reasonabl e assessnent.

Co-Chair MacKinnon remarked that the state provided 60
percent of the overall health care in Al aska.

Senator M cciche wanted to conpare what was passed out of
t he house.

Co-Chair MacKinnon replied that the work could be done
|ater in the day.

Ms. Chanbers stated that she had a conparison available to
the commtt ee.

Co- Chair MacKi nnon wondered whet her the conparison included
t he amendnments. Ms. Chanbers replied in the affirmative.

SB 79 was HEARD and HELD in commttee for further
consi derati on.

#
ADJ OURNVENT

The neeting was adjourned at 3:08 p. m

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 10 05/23/17 1:32 P. M



